FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/12/2018 3:20 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95376-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals Case No. 75262-6-I)

21st Mortgage Corporation Respondent/Appellee

v.

Duncan K. Robertson, et al,

Petitioner/Appellant

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FILED IN NO. 7563I-1-I ON OCTOBER 30, 2017 AND DECEMBER 12, 2017 DENIAL OF MOTION TO RECONSIDER

(Filing required by March 12, 2018 per 1/11/2018 Letter of Court)

Duncan K. Robertson Petitioner, appearing pro se 3520 SE Harold Court Portland, OR 86292-4344 (503)775-9164 uncacunc1@aol.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Duncan K. Robertson is Petitioner/Appellant and seeks review of an unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, terminating review of his appeals to that court.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

October 30, 2017 court issued its amended Opinion ("OP"); a copy appears here in Appendix at pages A-1-11.

December 12, 2017 petitioner's reconsideration motion was denied; a copy of that order appears in Appendix at pages A-12.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether hearing of an appeal is of right and therefore required under RAP 2.1(a)(1), RAP 2.2, and when RCW 7.16.040 may apply;
- 2. Whether summary judgment rulings by a Superior Court (and appellate court's review thereof or denial of review), as state actions which deprive a party of property, mandate due process protections under U.S. Constitution Amendment Fourteen and Washington Const. Art. 1, § 3,¹ including strict compliance with CR 56(c), and written decisions identifying fact, law and reasoning of the court in reaching such.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case addresses whether summary judgment procedures were followed by the Superior and Appellate courts, including proper hearing and weighting of Robertson's evidence submissions; whether courts im-

^{1 &}quot;[T]he Washington Constitution provides equal, but not greater, due process protection[.]" *Amunrud v. Board of Appeals*, 158 Wash.2d 208143 P. 3d 571, 574 n.2 (2006) (en banc) (citing *In re Personal Restraint of Dyer*, 143 Wash.2d 384, 394 (2001) (en banc)). See Wash. Const. Art. I, §§ 3, 12.

properly assumed the role of factfinder in lieu of the demanded jury; and whether these procedures satisfied due process requirements.

A. History of Case in Federal Legal Systems.

A brief history of this case is essential to the bigger picture. Robertson purchased the subject property in September, 2008 at his own trustee's sale. Prior to that, on April 9, 2008, the then-servicer of the purported senior loan, Homecomings Financial, LLC, 2("Servicer"), acknowledged receipt from Robertson's Trustee of notice of the sale and an invitation to participate, which they declined. *See* CP 2544; CP 2571 (Ex. Q to Declaration of Kathy Priore – *see infra*); 11/18/2016 Opening Brief ("Op.Brief") at 9 n.9. Sale occurred September 26, 2008. Servicer expressed no objection and filed no action to stop the sale in that time.³

Robertson's subsequent attempts to pay off an apparent senior lienholder and utilize the property were unlawfully thwarted and the property destroyed, including through a series of attempted foreclosures on the subject Note and deed of trust ("DOT") here. Seeking relief, Robertson filed suit in King County Superior Court, subsequently removed to federal district court, appealed to the 9th Circuit and currently before the U.S. Supreme Court, Case No. 17-978 on jurisdictional issues. For the factual history spawning these events and insight into Robertson's frustration *please see* CP 1926-41 (Original Complaint Facts).

² Transitioning Servers during events here also included GMAC Mortgage, LLC and Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC. *See* CP 1635.

³ To quote this Court, "waiver of defenses to a trustee's sale" occurs under these conditions. *Selene RMOF II REO Acq. II v. Ward*, 399 P.3d 1118, 1124 n.6 (Wash. Supr. Ct. 2017) (quoting *Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n v. Ndiaye*, 188 Wash. App. 376, 382 (2015) (citing *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. of Wash.*, *Inc.*, 174 Wash.2d 560, 569 (2012)).

The same real property issues on the same res were also heard simultaneously before *In re Residential Capital, LLC*, No. 12-12020 (Bankr. SDNY) ("ResCap bankruptcy"). All courts to date have rejected Robertson's motions brought under the exclusive jurisdiction doctrine to permit a conjoined hearing. The ResCap action was settled, as to those defendants only, in 2016.

B. History of Case in Superior Court

Meanwhile, on July 24, 2014, 21st filed a complaint to foreclose the subject property (this action), now placing Robertson in *three* legal systems, and tripling his burdens of time, finance and stress levels compared to any of his opponents. 21st Attached to its Complaint as its Exhibit E a "true and correct copy" of the subject Note showing its last indorsement to "Bank One National Association as Trustee." ("Bank One"). CP 37. The Complaint asserted, "Current Ownership of Deed of Trust: Plaintiff is now the owner and holder of the Deed of Trust and the Note secured thereby." CP 04. Complaint also attached several assignments of deed of trust it claimed traced to 21st, beginning with one from Old Kent Mortgage Company (original lender to Nicholls) which, "identifies no principal (owner of the Note's beneficial interest) on whose behalf Bank One "as trustee" is accepting" (CP107) and bears no notary seal (CP 28-29).

Robertson answered the Complaint, raising affirmative defenses including 21st's lack of standing (note is indorsed to the defunct *Bank*

⁴ CP 03:19-20.

One), expiration of statute of limitations, laches, invalid assignments of DOT and others (CP 94-96). His verified Answer was supported by extensive facts and evidence especially as to failure of chain of title of both Note and Deed of Trust. *See* CP 105-17 and supporting exhibits; Answer generally. On February 27, 2015, 21st answered Robertson's Answer/Counterclaims (CP 824-38) including, "21st admits Robertson is title owner of the property at issue..." (CP 825:8).

May 22, 2015 Robertson filed a Motion to Change Trial Date, ECF Dkt. 34, and also issued discovery requests, including asking 21st to admit/deny that "No interest in the Original Note has ever appeared as an asset of the ResCap Bankruptcy Estate." On May 29, 2015, 21st filed a response to the motion (CP 285-89), supported by affidavit of John Weil (CP 290-387). These introduced <u>new</u> claims of Note and DOT interest, Weil attesting, "Plaintiff is acting to enforce the interest acquired by Berkshire Hathaway, Inc. in the Note and the Deed of Trust at issue...", and that these had been purchased "free and clear" from the bankruptcy estate. CP 291. This contradicted 21st Complaint's owner/holder claims. See supra. On May 1, 2015 Robertson filed a reply (CP 487-491) arguing and showing that this assertion also contradicted legally established truth, whereas the subject loan had never been an asset of the ResCap Bankruptcy estate, and so incapable of being sold by them, free-and-clear or otherwise. This was supported by Robertson Declaration, CP 504, at-

⁵ See *Christian Legal Soc. Chapter v. Martinez*, 130 S. Ct. 2971, 3005 (2010)("Factual assertions in pleadings and pretrial orders, unless amended, are considered judicial admissions conclusively binding on the party who made them."); CR 56(c) (requiring consideration of "admissions on file" in granting summary judgment).

taching ResCap Bankrupty Asset Schedules of prior DOT claimants Residential Funding Real Estate Holdings, LLC and Residential Funding Company, LLC showing neither held the underlying Note. (*see* CP 510-549, 551-791).

At the same time, 21st responses to Robertson's discovery requests consisted nearly entirely of boilerplate objections, especially those relating to *chain of title* of subject Note and DOT. 21st asserted it had "free and clear" immunity from answering, based on the new Weil claims. *See*, e.g. CP 1052:6-14. After conferring on the matter (*see* CP 1233-58 – a 21st document) supplementary responses by 21st continued to yield obscure answers and cryptic highly redacted document submissions identifying no parties or the transaction to which they might apply. *See* 1184:12-24 (Admission No. 21); CP 932-35. This dispute as to how 21st could possibly have obtained any foreclosable interest through the ResCap Bankruptcy was raised repeatedly by Robertson (see, e.g. CP 1793-96 of Robertson MFSJ), but was never addressed by the court.

On December 22, 2015 Robertson filed a motion to compel discovery. CP 1003–1014 ("Motion to Compel"), including, "21st Mortgage has consistently refused to provide chain of title information for either the Nicholl's note or deed of trust..." CP 1006; *see also*, e.g. CP 1028-29 (Interr. 6). December 21, 2015 Robertson also filed a motion to stay proceedings or postpone trial date until federal proceedings on the same *res* are resolved, out of respect of exclusive jurisdiction doctrine (permitting

merger of cases). CP 989. Motion was denied as to this foreclosure, but counter/cross-claims were stayed and Motion to Compel was stricken. CP 1457. Robertson moved for reconsideration, CP 1459-63; denied, CP 1530.

December 31, 2015 21st filed its Motion for Summary Judgment, CP 1308-29 ("21st MFSJ"), introducing to the court for the first time a "Note" copy (CP 1335-40), that was inconsistent with their previous "true and correct" copy, plus separate "Allonges" (CP 1342-43). 21st also relied on the heavily redacted excerpts of documents showing no parties or transaction to which they pertained (CP 1453-56 - includes those supra), claiming they showed Berkshire Hathaway being delivered the Nicholls Loan. Motion also claimed tolling of statute of limitations citing excerpts from servicer's "notes". See CP 2003-27; infra. Robertson response (see CP 2096-2115), and its supporting Robertson Declaration (see CP 2118-24) and subsequent submissions presented extensive argument, evidence from the same source⁶ and detail thereof, showing the 21st excerpt submissions were deceptive because entries that show no such payments were ever received had been omitted and/or redacted. CP 2096-2101; CP 1559:6-22; CP 1629-1730; CP 2542-45.

Then on February 6, 2016 21st filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, CP 1485 ("Pleadings Motion"), noted by court as a 5-Day motion. ECF Dkt. No. 124. It sought to have Robertson's property deed de-

⁶ Priore Declaration and its Exhibit Q (the "servicer notes" referenced here) are official records of *In Re Residential Capital*, *LLC*, No. 12-12062 (Bnkr. SDNY), Doc. 8072-24. Priore Declaration and its Exhibit Q appear at CP 1629-1730. *see* Op.Brief at 7 n6, at 9 n.9.

clared "void" depriving him of any standing (anywhere). Robertson objected vigorously (CP 1533-1550, 2030-34) especially to a cause of action that did not appear in the pleadings, 21st previous admission to Robertson's ownership and Servicer's effective waivers (supra), and being brought nearly 8 years after its issuance from public sale. *Id.* Februrary 12, 2016 Robertson filed Motion for Summary Judgment, CP 1791-1813 ("Robertson MFSJ"), largely devoted to showing 21st 's lack of standing to bring suit. *Id.* On March 14, 2016 Superior Court heard the three motions, *supra*, jointly, and issued its ruling, CP 2536-39 (A-13-17) here - "Motions Order"). Robertson moved for reconsideration (CP 2686-99) including court's failure to specify evidence considered and to identify grounds of its decisions under CR 59(a)(1),(7),(8). (CP 2687, 2698). Court responded by identifying documents considered, but otherwise denied. CP 2701-02. CR 54(b) certification was granted (CP 2728 -32), and judgment and decree of foreclosure issued. ECF Dkt. No. 191. C. Appellate Court History

Robertson appealed four final judgments and sought discretionary review of two other orders, detailed *infra*. September 11, 2017 court issued its first opinion. October 2, 2018 Robertson filed a Motion to Reconsider ("Recons.1"). October 23, 2017 Recons.1 was denied stating no reasons. On October 30, 2017 court issued its Opinion (as amended) ("OP"). Opinion's opening paragraph through the first two paragraphs of its Facts section give the appearance that what follows is based upon a review of the record below. But the third through fifth paragraphs of that

section (OP at 2-3) abandon the record, stating as fact that which is not. Reality returns, for a time, in the third paragraph of page 3. *See* "Facts" discussion, *infra*. Opinion goes on to correctly identify that the testimony of Dr. James Kelley that Note and Allonges are forged and allonges never attached⁷ "creates a genuine issue of fact whether 21st is a holder and entitled to enforce the note." OP at 7. It does not recognize, however, that Kelley also presented material evidence, including high-resolution renderings of allonges (CP 2062-67), gathered with 21st attorney present, that clearly show (no expert opinion required) that staple marks in the Note and Allonges proffered do not mach up (see Op.Brief. at 17 n.13st); indicating they were never "affixed" as required by law to constitute legal indorsement. RCW 62A.3-204(a), 3-203(c)(lack of indorsement deprives holder status).

Opinion also recognizes that contrary to 21st 's claim, Robertson *does* have standing to defend via challenge of documents. OP at 6 n.4 (a significant holding). But Opinion does not address how this affects the balance of its holdings (all rulings below left in place sub silentio are based on Robertson *not* having standing to defend).

^{7 &}quot;RCW 62.A.3-204 requires allonges be "affixed" so as to become a part the original Note. Section 3-204(a) provides that for the purpose of determining whether a signature is made on an instrument, a paper affixed to the instrument is part of the instrument. (§ 3-204, Comment 1.) It continues the practice under prior §3-202(2); the paper 'so firmly affixed thereto as to become a part thereof' is called an allonge." 7 Wash. Prac., UCC Forms § 3-205 FORM 2 (June, 2016 Revision).

^{8 21}st 's sole attempt to rebut this fact is found in its 02/02/2017 Respondant's Brief. ("Resp. Br."): "In a stretch of the imagination, Robertson claims that the staple marks on the Note do not match and that the allonges were not attached to the Note." Resp.Br. at 28 n.20.

Appellate Court declined to review (effectively *sub silentio*) orders brought before it under RAP 2.2, including Robertson MFSJ, Pleadings Motion (*see* OP at 9, identifying it as an "issue"), and Judgment for Foreclosure, leaving effects of these orders in place. Related orders brought before that court but effectively denied for discretionary review (by simply disregarding them) were court's striking of Motion to Compel, CP 1457-58/CP1003-1014; Motion to Stay (CP 1457-58) (addressing propriety of forcing Robertson to litigate real property rights of the same res simultaneously in multiple court systems; and Motion to Reconsider the stay motion, CP 1530-32.

Opinion remands to Superior Court but with no directive as to what is to be accomplished there. (Attach Allonges?)

V. ARGUMENT/WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED A. Denial of review under RAP 2.2 conflicts with this Court

Other than the "Note", The Superior Court's Motions Order does not identify any of the evidence considered. That court appears to base all of its holdings on the Pleadings Motion, first converted to one for summary judgment, then after-the-fact to "Plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss Duncan Robertson's claims (a motion joined in by other third party defendants)". Motions Order at 2. It ruled that a procedural error in the trustee's sale where Robertson acquired the property rendered his trustee's deed invalid (effectively interpreted "void") because, "Without

⁹ It would appear this was done to permit all of Robertson's opponents to avail themselves of collateral estoppel, whereas numerous of Robertson's Affirmative defenses also appear as causes of action in his counterclaims/cross-claims and in his federal action, in particular his claim of *no chain of title* to either Note or DOT in all such.

statutory authority, any action taken [to foreclose] is invalid.' *Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services*, 174 Wn. 2d 560, 568 (2012). That is the inescapable conclusion here." Motions Order at 3. The Order then states:

"With the above ruling indicated, the Court probably need go no further. However, since other issues have been briefed and argued, some responsive conclusions will be mentioned whether they are characterized as rulings, dicta or conditional rulings."

Id. The court then ruled that the foreclosure could proceed, because it had found that 21st held the Note "and that it can document the chain of transactions that bring us here." It then ruled, with no further discussion, "Defendant Robertson's affirmative defenses as to the above claim are stricken; Defendant Robertson's Motion for Summary Judgment is denied". *Id.* at 4.

This Court recognizes a litigant's "right to appeal." *Green River Comm. Coll. Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Educ. Bd.*, 107 Wn.2d 427, 443 (1986) (en banc) ("A civil appellant has a right to appeal under RAP 2.2"). Appellate Court declined to review Pleadings Motion sub silentio¹¹, and Robertson MFSJ with no mention other than acknowledging he filed it (*id.* at 3), both certified as final judgments under CR 54(b). OP at 4. Opinion fails to address the propriety of leaving undisturbed the Order for Foreclosure¹² while simultaneously ruling that 21st had failed to show

¹⁰ This implies that 21st has not so produced, but the judge's belief that they "can", and is inappropriate, especially whereas Robertson has demanded jury trial. "It is not for courts at summary judgment to weigh evidence or determine the credibility of [a witness's] testimony; we leave those tasks to factfinders." *O'Leary v. Accretive Health, Inc.*, 657 F. 3d 625, 630 (7th Cir. 2011) (quoting *Berry v. Chicago Transit Auth.*, 618 F.3d 688, 691 (7th Cir. 2010).

¹¹See OP at 9(stating the Pleadings Motion is being left unreviewed because "his interest in [the real property] will be foreclosed").

¹² Effectively declining to review this appealed order *sub silentio*.

standing to bring this action (*see*, OP at 10("If 21st does not hold the note, then it does not have standing to enforce it"), thus depriving the Order and its now consummated sale of the property of any legal basis. ¹³ The explicit language of *Green River*, *supra*, and RAP 2.2 appears to preclude a court's discretion to deny review of appeals meeting its definitions, at least without some cognizable explanation. *Id*. Accordingly, these denials are in conflict with decisions of this Court and qualify for review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Opinion makes no mention whatever of Robertson's petition for discretionary review of the striking of his Motion to Compel, Motion to Stay, and Motion to Reconsider the stay motion. These orders directly impacted and prejudicially affected the RAP 2.2 appealed orders. *See motions, supra;* RAP 2.2(b); *Right-Price Recreation v. Connells Prarie,* 146 Wash.2d 370, 378 (2002) (en banc)("Generally, an appellate court will "review the decision or parts of the decision designated in the . . . notice for discretionary review *and other decisions in the case* as provided in [RAP 2.4](b), (c), (d), and (e)."). Also, writ of review is available under RCW 7.16.040 "Where the trial court 'act[ed] illegally." *State v. Chelan County Dist. Court et al.,* No. 93098-8, Slip Op. at 5 (Wash. Supr. Ct. 11-16-2017) (en banc). "Writ is also available "to correct any erroneous or void proceeding, or a proceeding not according to the course of the common law, and there is no...plain, speedy and adequate

¹³ See, e.g. *Brown v. Washington State Dept. of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 524-25 (2015) (en banc) (UCC requires foreclosing entity to be note holder); *also id.* at n.5("Only the holder of a note can authorize the foreclosure of the collateral that is security for the note.").

remedy at law." RCW 7.16.040. The statute's explicit language designating review by "any court" and this Court's ruling *supra*, indicate it may also be applicable to this Petition. *Id.* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

B. Opinion states as "Facts" unresolved disputed issues and presumptions that do not appear in the record.

The "Facts" section of Opinion includes assertions never pleaded or evidenced in the record below by 21st, some which are contradicted by the Opinion itself, and others that remain in dispute, indicating they are *not* the product of proper *de novo* review. Robertson addressed and identified these in both of his Motions for Partial Reconsideration:

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