FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/12/2018 2:21 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95376-7

(Court of Appeals NO. 75262-6-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

21st Mortgage Corporation,

Respondent,

v.

Linda C. Nicholls; Duncan K. Robertson,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT 21ST MORTGAGE CORPORATION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Eleanor A. DuBay, WSBA #45828 Tomasi Salyer Martin 121 SW Morrison St., Suite 1850 Portland, OR 97204 (503) 894-9900 Of Attorneys for Respondent 21st Mortgage Corporation

I.	IDE	NTIT	TY OF ANSWERING PARTY	1

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

² On April 28, 2016, the trial court entered an Order to Certify CR 54(b) Final Status to Judgment on Order on Motions (Dkt. 166) and Order on Reconsideration (Dkt. 171) as Being Final for Purposes of Appeal ("Final Order"). CP 2728-32.

³ "OP" herein refers to the amended Unpublished Opinion dated October 30, 2017.

defense as it relates to the aforementioned issue of material fact) (OP 9-11). The Court did not address the "Exclusive Jurisdiction" argument (see OP 9, fn. 6) or the Discovery Order. The Court denied both Respondent's and Appellant's cross Motions for Reconsideration but issued an amended Unpublished Opinion on October 30, 2017.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED IF REVIEW IS GRANTED

The Petition's statement of issues is not procedurally accurate within the framework of RAP 13.4(b). The issues that would actually be presented, if review is granted, are as follows⁴:

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals properly decline to consider Robertson's claim that the Superior Court erred in invalidating the 2008 trustee's sale;
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals properly affirm the Superior Court's dismissal of Robertson's affirmative defenses (with the exception of his standing defense); and
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals properly conclude that Robertson had waived and abandoned issues that were not raised to the Superior Court or Court of Appeals?

9

⁴ While it is not clear from the Petition, it appears that neither Robertson nor 21st are seeking review of the Court's decision to partially reverse the MSJ Order because a genuine issue of material fact exists which precludes summary judgment.

V. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Review.

Discretionary acceptance of a decision terminating review may be granted only if: (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with the decision of the Supreme Court; (2) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) a significant question of law under the constitution of the state of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

At the outset, this Court should not accept review under RAP 13.4(b) because Robertson has failed to identify the considerations governing acceptance of review. The Petition claims several times that the decision of the Court of Appeals "conflicts" with other decisions, but fails to include specific references to the applicable portions of the appellate Opinion and citations to existing law in Washington that are in conflict. The Petition does not meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b) and review should be denied on this basis alone.

As a second preliminary matter, Robertson repeatedly argues that the Court of Appeals did not address the Discovery Order and other subsequent orders of the trial court and that this failure is a fatal flaw requiring review by this Court.⁵ However, Robertson misunderstands the Rules of Appellate Procedure and, in any event, fails to cite to any conflicting authority under RAP 13.4(b).

Under RAP 12.2, the Court of Appeals accepting discretionary review can reverse, affirm, or modify a decision being reviewed or "take any other action as the merits of the case and the interest of justice may require." RAP 12.2. Here, there was no reason to address the Discovery Order and, indeed, Robertson failed to include any identifiable legal argument in his Opening Brief relating to the Discovery Order. See RAP 10.3 (requiring assignment of error to be included in appellate brief). But even if he had, that order was not appropriate for review because, in fact, the trial court did not deny Robertson's motion to compel as he alleges, but rather entered an order striking the motion because of Robertson's failure to confer before filing. The Petition's numerous references to Robertson's "motion to compel" are a red herring and not a basis for review.

; _T-

⁵ Robertson also claims that his arguments related to the bankruptcy Sale Order were not addressed by the Court of Appeals. Petition 5. This is flatly incorrect. The Opinion directly addressed this argument and found it unpersuasive. OP 8. Further, Robertson fails to include any actual argument related to the bankruptcy in the Petition.

⁶ Reliance on *Green River Cmty. College Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Educ. Pers. Bd.*, 107 Wn.2d 427, 730 P.2d 653 (1986) is improper. *Green River* does not hold that RAP 2.2 precludes an appellate court from applying discretion in an appeal. Rather, *Green River's* holding relating to the RAPs is limited to the conclusion that technical defects in pleading assignments of error can be overlooked. 107 Wn.2d at 431.

⁷ The Discovery Order states in pertinent part (CP 1458): "The Motion to Compel Discovery is stricken and the parties are directed to confer with a view to resolving any currently existing discovery disputes ...".

In addition, Robertson misunderstands the effect of the Court's partial reversal of the MSJ Order. The Petition seems to argue that the Court's failure to address subsequent trial court orders, such as the decree of foreclosure, effect the validity of the Opinion or will somehow confuse the trial court upon remand. But again Robertson has failed to comprehend RAP 8.1 and 12.2. RAP 8.1(b) states that "[a] trial court decision may be enforced pending appeal or review unless stayed pursuant to the provisions of this rule." This includes execution of real property after entry of a judgment of foreclosure unless the appellant files a supersedeas bond. RAP 8.1(b)(2). Further, RAP 12.2 provides that the trial court may make whatever post-judgment decisions are necessary after the mandate is issued so long as those decisions do not conflict with the appellate decision. RAP 12.2.

Here, Robertson failed to obtain a supersedeas bond to stay execution of the MSJ Order. Accordingly, the trial court was free to issue a decree of foreclosure, writ of execution, and order of sale after entry of the MSJ Order. Nonetheless, even if that were not so, Robertson's arguments related to such post-judgment execution are not proper for

_

⁸ Robertson similarly claims that the Court's partial reversal of the MSJ Order was incomplete because the Court did not include instructions for the trial court upon remand. Petition 9. This is erroneous. The Opinion found that a question of fact existed and remanded the case for further proceedings. OP 1-2, 11. In accordance with 12.2, the trial court can take any action necessary to further the proceeding so long as it does not conflict with an issue previously resolved on appeal. RAP 12.2.

review by this Court and must be directed to the trial court after the mandate is entered.

B. Notwithstanding the Foregoing, the Issues Raised by the Petition are Resolved by Existing Case Law.

This Court should not accept review under RAP 13.4(b). The discrete issues Robertson's Petition presents are readily resolved by existing case law and statutes. While it is extremely difficult to discern what precisely Robertson claims should be reviewed by this Court, the various issues addressed in the Petition can be categorized as follows: (1) sufficiency of the MSJ Order and Opinion under CR 56 standards; (2) due process considerations; and (3) Robertson's affirmative defenses, including the Deed of Trust "chain of title", and purported assignments of error not actually briefed or argued in the trial court or Court of Appeals.

1. The MSJ Order and the Opinion Correctly Applied the Standard of Review Under CR 56.

While scattered throughout the Petition, the basic underlying premise of Robertson's varying arguments relate to the MSJ Order, the Opinion, and the standard of review under CR 56. Robertson claims that the MSJ Order does not include facts to support the trial court's conclusion that the trustee's sale was void. He also claims that the facts submitted by 21st to rebut his affirmative defense regarding the statute of limitations were insufficient. And throughout all the arguments the Petition alleges

that the Court of Appeals used the incorrect standard of review under CR 56. All of these claims are insufficient to warrant review of the Opinion.

a. The Court of Appeals Correctly Declined to Review the 2008 Trustee's Sale.

Robertson presents several arguments relating to his 2008 trustee's sale. First, the Petition's claim that the MSJ Order does not state facts in support of the decision that the sale was void is specious for several reasons. Robertson never made this argument at the Court of Appeals and did not include it as an assignment of error. *See McKee v. Am. Home Prods, Corp.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 705, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989) (appellate court will not consider issues on appeal that are not raised by an assignment of error or are not supported by argument and citation of authority); RAP 10.3 (a). What is more, the MSJ Order clearly contains facts relating to the determination that Robertson's 2008 trustee's sale was void making Robertson's claims to the contrary misleading and wrong. CP 2537-8.

Second, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that it was not necessary to review the determination that the trustee's sale was void and Robertson has failed to cite to any conflicting authority as required by RAP 13.4(b). The Opinion states that "Robertson's status as either junior lienholder or owner is immaterial to whether 21st is entitled to a decree of foreclosure. Regardless of whether Robertson owns the property or is a

junior lienholder, his interest in it will be foreclosed, and he will be entitled to any surplus." OP 9 (footnote and citation omitted). The Court of Appeals properly concluded that deciding whether the trustee's sale was void was not necessary for the Court's findings related to the remaining holdings and there is no contradictory authority cited in the Petition.

Lastly, even if the Court of Appeals had been inclined to review the trial court's determination that the trustee's sale was void, it is plain that the trial court's decision was supported by current case law and the Washington Deed of Trust Act ("DTA"). The DTA requires that a beneficiary proceeding with a nonjudicial foreclosure strictly comply with the DTA requirements. "The courts must strictly construe the DTA..."

Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. of Wash., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 567, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012). If the trustee does not comply with the DTA, the trustee is divested of authority to sell the property and the sale is invalid. Id. (citing Udall v. T.D. Escrow Services, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 911, 154 P.3d 882 (2007)). The DTA provides that "[t]he trustee has no obligation to, but may ... continue the sale for a period or periods not exceeding a total of [120] days..." RCW 61.24.040 (6) (emphasis added).

Here, the trial court concluded that Robertson's trustee lacked authority to conduct the Trustee's Sale held on September 26, 2008 because that sale date was 168 days from the original date listed in the

NOTS (April 11, 2008). The Washington Supreme Court has squarely held that a trustee's sale conducted more than 120 days from the sale date listed in a notice of trustee's sale is void. *Albice*, 174 Wn.2d 560 at 568. Robertson has not cited any authority which contradicts the holding in *Albice* or the requirements of RCW 61.24.040 (6), and as a result, this Court should decline to review the Court of Appeals' Opinion.

b. The Opinion Correctly Found that 21st's Action is Not Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

The Petition next argues that the Opinion "includes assertions never pleaded or evidenced in the record below by 21st ... and others that remain in dispute ..." regarding Robertson's statute of limitations affirmative defense. Petition 12. But this observation is not accurate. As the Opinion actually states, 21st presented evidence to the trial court that Nicholls made payments on the loan in 2009. OP 9-10. The Opinion continues "Robertson argues that the evidence is not credible but he offers no evidence disputing that Nicholls made those payments." *Id*.

"[A]n adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of a pleading ..." (CR 56); rather, the non-moving party must "set forth **specific facts** which sufficiently rebut the moving party's contentions ..." *Deutsche Bank Nat'l Tr. Co. v. Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. 166, 170-71, 367 P.3d 600 (2016) (citing *Meyer v. Univ. of Washington*, 105 Wn.2d

847, 852, 719 P.2d 98 (1986)) (emphasis added). After considering Robertson's arguments, and the record, the Court of Appeals rightly determined that he failed to set forth <u>any</u> facts to contradict 21st's evidence that Nicholls had made payments in 2009. Thus, the Opinion concluded that 21st's claims were not barred by the statute of limitations and the trial court properly dismissed Robertson's affirmative defense.

The Petition contains the same defects regarding the statute of limitations affirmative defense. The Petition argues that 21st's evidence is not credible, but does not cite to any specific evidence in the record to contract 21st's evidence (likely because there is no such evidence). Instead, Robertson makes vague references to the "record below" without identifying any explicit facts. Petition 14. This is insufficient under CR 56 and RAP 13.4(b). And, as the Court of Appeals noted, "[t]he court is not required to search the record to locate the portions relevant to a litigant's arguments." OP 11 (citing *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 819, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)).

Tellingly, the Petition does not cite to any contradictory authority that would necessitate review by this Court. In fact, Robertson's

⁹ Robertson's citation to *Baldwin v. Sisters of Providence*, 112 Wn.2d 127, 769 P.2d 298 (1989) is not applicable in this case because 21st has pointed the trial court and Court of Appeals to <u>specific</u> evidence submitted by 21st thereby satisfying the requirements of CR 56. The burden then shifts to Robertson to submit evidence contradicting 21st's evidence. He failed to do so. Additionally, as stated herein, Robertson has the burden of proof on all elements of his affirmative defenses, not 21st.

allegations are of a factual nature and easily resolved by application of existing CR 56 law to the record. Accordingly, review should be denied.

2. <u>This Court Cannot Review Robertson's Due Process</u> Claim Because he Failed to Raise it Below.

Robertson argues for the first time in his Petition that the trial court's MSJ Order violated his due process rights. Robertson's argument is nonsensical, to say the least. But, even if Robertson's due process argument was sound, he failed to raise it in his Opening Brief to the Court of Appeals. An appellate court will not consider issues on appeal that are not raised by an assignment of error or are not supported by argument and citation of authority. *McKee*, 113 Wn.2d at 705; RAP 10.3 (a). Where a brief contains no argument or citation to authority pertaining to omitted issues, the court will deny review of these arguments. *Ang v. Martin*, 154 Wn.2d 477, 486-487, 114 P.3d 637 (2005). Consequently, this Court should deny review of the Petition.

C. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found that Robertson Abandoned Claims at the Superior Court.

The Petition argues that the Court of Appeals should have addressed the affirmative defense relating to the Deed of Trust "chain of title." Petition 14-15. However, the Opinion is correct that Robertson

¹⁰ The Petition's due process argument is long on legal citations, but has virtually no application to the issues presented here. Such vague references are not reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(3). And contrary to Robertson's assertions that the Court of Appeals denied his appeal, the Court, in fact, agreed with Robertson and partially reversed the trial court.

"does not support this with argument" and appropriately declined to review it. OP 4, fn. 3. As stated above, the Court of Appeals properly did not consider issues on appeal that were not raised by an assignment of error nor supported by argument and citation of authority. *See McKee*, 113 Wn.2d at 705; RAP 10.3(a). And, as noted by the Court of Appeals, "[t]he defendant carries the burden of proof of an affirmative defenses." OP 10 (citing *Rivas v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 164 Wn.2d 261, 267, 189 P.3d 753 (2008)). The defendant "must make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of the essential elements of those affirmative defenses." *Id.* (citing *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 255, 770 P.2d 182 (1989)). Not only did Robertson fail to meet his burden before the trial court, but he continued that failure in the Court of Appeals by not arguing each defense on appeal.¹¹ Most importantly, Robertson fails to set forth any conflicting law justifying review as required by RAP 13.4(b).

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